
- over - 

AGENDA FOR 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 

 
October 23, 2018 

 

CALENDAR 
 

Oct 23 5:30 p.m. Public Work Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 23 
immediately 
following 

Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 23 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 23 
immediately 
following 

Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 26 4:00 p.m. Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 27 8:00 a.m. Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Oct 31 4:00 p.m. Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

 
******************* 

A. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE 

 
B. THE ELKHART PROMISE 

 

C. INVITATION TO SPEAK PROTOCOL 
 

D. SUPERINTENDENT’S STUDENT ADVISORY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES 

Central High School 
Memorial High School 

 

E. GIFT ACCEPTANCE - The administration recommends Board acceptance 
with appreciation of recent donations made to Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

F. MINUTES 
October 9, 2018 – Regular Board Meeting 
 

G. TREASURER'S REPORT 
 

 Consideration of Claims 

 
 Financial Report – January 1, 2018 – September 30, 2018 

 

 2019 Budget Adoption – The Business Office recommends Board approval 
of the proposed 2019 Budget, 2019 Capital Projects Fund Plan, and 2019 
School Bus Replacement Plan, and other required budget resolutions. 

 
 Extra-Curricular Purchase Requests - The Business Office seeks Board 

approval of extra-curricular purchase requests. 



BOARD AGENDA October 23, 2018 
 
 

2 
   

 Fundraisers - The Business Office recommends Board approval of proposed 
school fundraisers in accordance with Board Policy. 
 

 Monthly Insurance Update 
 

H. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 Board Policy 5830 – Student Fundraising - The administration presents 
revisions to Board Policy 5830 - Student Fundraising, as initially presented 

at the October 9th regular meeting. 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS 
 

 Board Policy 5460 – Graduation Requirements - The administration 
presents revisions to Board Policy 5460 – Graduation Requirements for 
initial consideration. 
 

 Administrative Regulation JC – School District Boundaries – The 
administration presents revisions to Administrative Regulation JC – School 
District Boundaries for initial review. 
 

 Board Policy 3422.08S – Paraprofessionals’ Compensation Plan - The 
administration presents revisions to Board Policy 3422.08S – 

Paraprofessionals’ Compensation Plan and asks to waive 2nd reading. 
 

 Board Policy 3422.15S – Permanent Substitute Teachers’ Compensation 
Plan – The administration presents revisions to Board Policy 3422.15S – 

Permanent Substitute Teachers’ Compensation Plan and asks to waive 2nd 
reading.  
 

 Grants – The administration seeks Board approval for the submission of 
grants as recommended by the administration. 
 

 Grants – The administration recommends Board acceptance of grants from 

the Elkhart Education Foundation. 
 

J. PERSONNEL 
 

 Conference Leaves - It is recommended the Board grant conference leave 
requests in accordance with Board Policy to staff members as recommended 
by the administration. 

 
 Certified and Classified Staff - See the report and recommendations of the 

administration. 

 
K. INFORMATION AND PROPOSALS 

 

 From Audience 
 

 From Superintendent and Staff 
 

 From Board 
 

L. ADJOURNMENT 
 







MINUTES 
OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 
October 9, 2018 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

7:00 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Karen S. Carter Susan C. Daiber 
Present: Douglas K. Weaver Rodney J. Dale 

 Jeri E. Stahr Glenn L. Duncan 
  Carolyn R. Morris 
   

 

Roll Call 

President Karen Carter called the regular meeting of the Board of School 
Trustees to order.  The pledge of allegiance was recited. 
 

Call to 
Order 

Tony Gianesi, chief operating officer, recited the Elkhart Promise. The Elkhart 
Promise 
 

Mrs. Carter discussed the invitation to speak protocol. 
 

 

By unanimous action, the Board accepted with appreciation the following 

donations made to Elkhart Community Schools (ECS):  four doe boar 
goats from Marge Newton-Skaggs and Newton Farms to the ACCELL 
program at the Elkhart Area Career Center (EACC); $705 and school 

supplies valued at $300 from Dr. Mark Lindholm and Natural Health 
Family Chiropractic to the special education, intense programs, at 
Memorial; $1,500 from Northern Indiana Volleyball Association (NIVA) 

to the athletic programs at Pierre Moran. 
 

Gift Acceptance 

 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following minutes:  
 
September 25, 2018 – Public Work Session 

September 25, 2018 – Regular Board Meeting 
 

Approval of 
Minutes 

By unanimous action, the Board approved payment of claims totaling 

$5,941,909.17 as shown on the October 9, 2018, claims listing.  
(Codified File 1819-37) 
 

Payment of 

Claims 

A public hearing on the 2019 Budget, 2019 Capital Projects Plan and 
2019 School Bus Replacement Plan was opened.  Kevin Scott, chief 
financial officer, reviewed the budget and plans, outlining the changes 

taking place in 2019.  Mr. Scott responded to an audience question 
regarding the current tax rate and cap.  With no further comments from 
the audience, the hearing was closed. 

Public Hearing – 
Budget 



2 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved textbook rental fees for the 
2018-2019 school year.  After a lengthy discussion, the recommendation 

was made for future billing to provide more information.  Mr. Scott also 
clarified the term “textbook” is the description dictated for use by the 
State and not the school district.  (Codified File 1819-38) 

 

Textbook Rental 
Fees 

By unanimous action, the Board approved proposed school fundraisers 
in accordance with Board policy.  The funds raised through the listed 

activities are deposited into each school’s extra-curricular fund. (Codified 
File 1819-39) 
 

Fundraisers 

Mr. Gianesi provided the following update on construction projects.  A 
community playground build was recently completed at Beardsley.  
Builds at Daly, Hawthorne, Eastwood, Osolo, Cleveland, Monger, and 

Beardsley were made possible by matching grants through Gametime.  
The construction project for Memorial with a projected completion date 
of July, 2020 was released to bidders on October 8th.  The EACC Annex 

project is in the development stage with a recommendation for award 
scheduled for November 13th.  The Engineering, Technology, and 
Innovation project is in the preliminary planning stage with a projected 

construction start date in the summer of 2019. 
 

Construction 
Update 
 

Beth Wentland, data and assessment manager, reported on the 2018 
ISTEP+ results.  Mrs. Wentland discussed various state and district 
trends, schools with a 5% or more increase, and noted Pierre Moran 

increased passing rates in both English/Language Arts and Mathematics 
in both grade levels tested. 
 

2018 ISTEP+ 
Results  

By unanimous action, the Board approved a Memorandum of 
Understanding between Elkhart Community Schools and Charlotte 
Mittler regarding the construction of an Advanced Manufacturing Center 

on property owned by ECS.  (Codified File 1819-40) 

Mittler 
Memorandum 
of 

Understanding 
 

The Board was presented proposed revisions to Board Policy 5830 - 

Student Fundraising, for initial consideration. 
 

Board Policy 

5830 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the recommendation to 

appoint Kyna Morgan to a four-year term through October 2022, to the 
Bristol Public Library Board.  (Codified File 1819-41) 
 

Bristol Public 

Library Board 
Appointment 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the submission of the 
following grants:  Bullying Prevention: Move2Stand to United Way of 
Elkhart County for approx. $18,000 from Student Services for all 

secondary schools; Indiana Literacy Early Intervention Grant to the 
Indiana Department of Education for $50,436.92 from the district; and 
Chicago: City of the Century to Target Field Trip Grant for $700 from 

Memorial. (Codified File 1819-42) 
 
 

 

Grant 
Submissions 
 



3 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following overnight trip 
requests for Central’s Blazeline:  to travel to Indianapolis on March 8 – 

10, 2019, for winter guard international regional contest; to travel to 
Avon, IN on March 15 and 16, 2019 for the semi-state Indiana 
Percussion Association competition; and to travel to Indianapolis on 

March 29 and 30, 2019 for the state Indiana Percussion Association 
competition. 
 

Overnight Trip 
Requests 

 

By unanimous action, the Board approved conference leave requests in 
accordance with Board policy for staff members as recommended by the 
administration on the October 9, 2018 listing.  (Codified File 1819-43) 

 

Conference 
Leaves 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following personnel 
recommendations of the administration: 

 

Personnel 
Report 

Employment of the following three (3) certified staff members for 
the 2018-2019 school year on the dates indicated:  

Richlyn Bigham - music at Monger, 10/1/18 
Donna McLaughlin - health at EACC (temporary contract), 

10/1/18 

Zachary Stone - special education at Memorial, 10/8/18 
 

Certified 
Employment 

 

Resignation of the following two (2) certified staff members 
effective on the dates indicated: 

Amy Jordan - grade 2 at Eastwood, 10/19/18 

David Pedler - science at North Side, 10/5/18 
 

Certified 
Resignation 
 

Employment of the following sixteen (16) classified employees 

who have successfully completed their probationary period on 
dates indicated: 

Jamie Burks - social worker at PACE, 10/7/18 

Sheila Elswick - food service at Central, 10/7/18 
Julia Engle - nurse at West Side, 10/8/18 
Sherry Forzley - behavior therapist at ESC, 10/8/18 

Diane Kramer - nurse at Daly, 10/8/18 
Leslee Gage - social worker at Monger, 10/7/18 
Victoria Marian-Amariutei - paraprofessional at Bristol, 

10/8/18 
Kenneth Peterson - support technician at Technology, 

10/7/18 

Kelsey Rockstroh - nurse at Feeser,10/8/18 
Tiffany Rush - secretary at Memorial, 10/9/18 
Chloe Shaw - speech language pathologist assistant at 

Osolo, 10/8/18 
Jodee Shaw - paraprofessional at Roosevelt, 10/8/18 
Heather Shelley - social work at Riverview, 10/7/18 

Kristin Shide - occupational therapist at Tipton, 10/8/18 
Peggy Thomas - food service at Hawthorne, 10/9/18 
Teresa Thompson - paraprofessional at Riverview,10/8/18 

 

Classified 

Employment 
 



4 
 

Retirement of classified employee, Deborah Swanson, assistant 
supervisor at Transportation, effective 1/2/19 with 22 years of 

service. 
 

Classified 
Retirement 

Resignation of the following six (6) classified employees effective 

on the dates indicated: 
Tina Allen - custodian at Bristol, 12/12/18 
Barbara Anguiano - senior reporter for WVPE, 10/12/18 

Erin Rapp - social worker at Daly, 9/24/18 
Teresa Sims - bus driver at Transportation, 10/10/18 
Patricia Smith - food service at Memorial, 9/22/18 

Zachary Stone - paraprofessional at Memorial, 10/5/18 
 

Classified 

Resignation 
 

Revision of the termination reported on September 25th for 

classified employee Allyssa St. Germain, bus helper at 
Transportation, in accordance with Board Policy 3139.01S 
effective 6/8/18. 

 

Classified 

Revision 
 

Unpaid leave for classified employee, Sybil Lee, secretary at 
Pierre Moran, beginning 9/21/18 and ending 10/18/18. 

 

Unpaid Leave 
 

A staff member stated how ECS’ educators are here because they care 

and they are doing the best they can.  Asked the Board for continued 
support of staff. 
 

From the 

Audience 
 

Mrs. Carter discussed how many times testing has been changed in her 
24 years on the Board including the upcoming ILEARN test in the Spring. 
 

From the Board 
 

Mark Mow stated he has always felt Elkhart Community School’s staff is 
very committed and he would ‘put it up against any other district’! 

From the 
Superintendent 
 

  



5 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 8:20 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Karen S. Carter, President 
 
 

  ____________________________________ 
  Douglas K. Weaver, Vice President 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Jeri E. Stahr, Secretary 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Rodney J. Dale, Member 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Glenn L. Duncan, Member 
 
 

  _____________________  ______________ 
  Carolyn R. Morris, Member 

Signatures 

 



PETTY CASH $ 500.00                     

GENERAL ACCOUNTS:                      

     Lake City Bank - Deposit Account 15,391,925.73          

     Lake City Bank – Accounts Payable (2,470,876.01)          

     Lake City Bank – Merchant Account                                              (240.00)                    

     Teachers Credit Union                                                           2,929,446.01            

     BMO Harris Bank (UMR insurance) 407,420.00               

SCHOOL LUNCH ACCOUNTS:
     Lake City Bank - Prepaid Lunch                                                                       268,361.50               

     Change Fund            2,010.00                  

TEXTBOOK RENTAL ACCOUNTS:

     Chase Bank 2,715,921.16            

PAYROLL ACCOUNTS:

     Lake City Bank – Payroll Account                                        (71,842.39)               

     Lake City Bank – Flex Account                                                  70,498.51                

     

INVESTMENTS:

     Certificate of Deposit  -                           

                                                                                                                            

19,243,124.5119,243,124.5119,243,124.5119,243,124.51$         $         $         $             

ACCOUNT BALANCES/INVESTMENT DETAIL

September 2018







 RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 2019 

 BUS REPLACEMENT PLAN 

 (20-2305) 

 

 This resolution is adopted by the Board of School Trustees of the Elkhart Community 

Schools, Elkhart, Elkhart County, Indiana: 

 

 Whereas a School Bus Replacement Plan has been established; and 

 

 Whereas the Board of School Trustees is required under I.C. 20-46-5 to adopt a plan with 

respect to the School Bus Replacement; and 

 

 Whereas the Board of School Trustees held a public hearing on the plan on the 9
th

 day of 

October, 2018, at 2720 California Road, Elkhart, Indiana; 

 

 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of School Trustees that the plan entitled  

School Bus Replacement Plan for the years 2019 through 2023, is hereby incorporated by reference 

into this resolution, and is adopted as the Board of School Trustees’ plan with respect to the School 

Bus Replacement Plan. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of School Trustees shall submit a certified 

copy of this resolution (including the adopted plan and the Calculation Worksheet) to the 

Department of Local Government as required by I.C. 20-40-7 for approval. 

 

 

ADOPTED THIS 23
rd 

DAY OF OCTOBER, 2018. 

 

   

           AYE           NAY 

 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

 

  BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES, ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 

 

 

ATTEST: _______________________________________, Secretary 

      Board of School Trustees, Elkhart Community Schools resolutnsbr 



 RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 2019  

 CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND PLAN 

 (20-2305) 

 

 This resolution is adopted by the Board of School Trustees of the Elkhart Community 

Schools, Elkhart, Elkhart County, Indiana: 

 

 WHEREAS, A School Capital Projects Fund has been established; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees is required under I.C. 20-46-6-5 to adopt a plan with 

respect to the Capital Projects Fund; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees held a public hearing on the capital projects plan on 

October 9, 2018, at 2720 California Road, Elkhart, Indiana; 

  

 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Trustees that the plan for Elkhart 

Community Schools for the years 2019 through 2021 is hereby incorporated by reference into this 

resolution, and is adopted as the Board of Trustees’ plan with respect to the School Capital Projects 

Fund. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board of Trustees shall submit a certified copy of 

this resolution (including the adopted plan) to the Department of Local Government Finance as 

required by I.C. 20-40-8-8 for approval. 

 

 

ADOPTED THIS 23
rd

 DAY OF OCTOBER 2018. 

 

             AYE           NAY 

 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

________________________________  ________________________________ 

    

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES, ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 

 

 

ATTEST: _______________________________________, Secretary 

      Board of School Trustees, Elkhart Community Schools resolutioncpf 



ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 

Elkhart, Indiana  

 
TAX NEUTRALITY RESOLUTION 

 

 

WHEREAS, the School Pension Debt Service Fund has been established for 

the purpose of budgeting principal and interest payments on pension bond debt 

authorized under Indiana Code 20-48-1-2,  

WHEREAS, Elkhart Community Schools issued debt pursuant to Indiana 

Code 20-48-1-2 in June 2006; 

 WHEREAS, Indiana Code 20-48-1-2 provides that a School Corporation shall 

reduce the total property tax levy for its Operations Fund in an amount equal to the 

debt service levy approved for the School Pension Debt Service Fund; 

 WHEREAS, the Indiana Department of Local Finance will determine the 

total property tax levy reduction amount necessary for the 2019 budget over the 

course of its budget review process;   

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SCHOOL 

TRUSTEES OF ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS that the Chief Financial 

Officer is authorized to apply the tax neutrality reduction required under Indiana 

law to the Operations Fund with the amount to be reported to the Board of School 

Trustees after it has been approved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Adopted this 23rd day of October, 2018. 

 

 

              AYE              NAY 
 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

 
       
 
ATTEST: 

 

 

       

Secretary, Board of School Trustees       Tax Neutrality Resolution 
 



ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 
 

RESOLUTION TO REDUCE PROPOSED BUDGET 
 

(Reduces total budget estimate, Budget Form 4B, Line 1 – 2019) 
(Reduces necessary expenditures, Jul 1-Dec 31, Budget Form 4B, Line 2 – 2018) 

(Reduces Operating Balance, Budget Form 4B, Line 11) 
(Reduces Net Amount to be Raised, Budget Form 4B, Line 16) 

(Reduces Net Tax Rate, Budget Form 4B, Line 17) 
 

 WHEREAS, it may be necessary to make reductions in certain existing 
appropriations, and reductions in the proposed budget estimate, operating 
balance, net amount to be raised, and/or net tax rates, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the exact amount of such reductions will be determined through 
the budget approval process conducted by the Indiana Department of Local 
Government Finance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
 

(1) The Chief Financial Officer is authorized to reduce Budget Form 
4B, Lines 1, 2, 11, 16, and 17 in the amounts determined to be 
necessary through the DLGF budget approval process. 
 

(2) Said reductions are understood to modify figures and amounts 
referenced in other budget documents, including Budget Form 3 
(Notice to Taxpayers), and Budget Form 4 (Resolution for 
Appropriations and Tax Rates). 

 
(3) The Chief Financial Officer is directed to report on the amount of 

reduction(s) at a regular meeting of the Board of School Trustees. 
  



ADOPTED THIS 23rd DAY OF OCTOBER, 2018: 
 
 
  AYE       NAY 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 
 

ATTEST: ______________________________ 
 Secretary, Board of School Trustees 















policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5830/page 1 of 4 

(as presented during the 10/9/18 BST meeting) 
 

 
 
 

STUDENT FUNDRAISING 

 

 
The Board acknowledges that the solicitation of funds by or from students must be 
limited. 
 
For purposes of this policy, "student fundraising" shall include the solicitation and 
collection of money by or from students for any purpose and shall include the 
collection of money in exchange for tickets, papers, or any other goods or services for 
approved student activities. 
 
The Board may permit student fundraising by students in school, on school 
property, or at any school-sponsored event only when the profit therefrom is to be 
used for school purposes or for an activity connected with the schools.  The Board 
requires that for any fundraiser by student clubs and organizations, as well as by 
Corporation-support organizations, which involve the sale to students of food items 
and/or beverages to be consumed on campus, the food and/or beverage items to be 
sold comply with the current USDA Dietary Guidelines for Americans or SMART 
snacks guidelines. 
 
Fundraising by approved school support organizations, that is, those organizations 
whose funds are managed by the Corporation, may be permitted in school by the 
principal.  Such fundraising off school grounds may be permitted by the 
Superintendent. 
 
Fundraising by students on behalf of school-related organizations whose funds are 
not managed by the Corporation may be permitted on school grounds by the 
Superintendent. 
 
The Board may permit fundraising that which involves any games of chance, such 
as bingo games, charity game nights, raffles, door prizes, fundraising festivals, 
activities related to pull tabs, punch-boards, tip-boards, and the like.  However, any 
fundraiser involving games of chance must comply with Indiana law, including 
obtaining the appropriate license or permits. 
 
Involvement of students under the age of eighteen (18) in fundraisers involving 
games of chance is limited as follows: 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5830/page 2 of 4 

(as presented during the 10/9/18 BST meeting) 
 

 
 
 
In compliance with I.C. 4-32. 2-5-21, no student under the age of eighteen (18) may 
play or participate in any of the following types of fundraising events - bingo games, 

charity game nights, raffle, door prizes, fundraising festivals, activities related to pull 
tabs, punch-boards, tip-boards, and the like.  No student under the age of eighteen 
(18) may sell tickets for any of the following types of fund-raising events - bingo 
games, charity game nights, door prizes, fundraising festivals, activities related to 
pull tabs, punch-boards, tip-boards, and the like.  Students, even those under 
eighteen (18) years of age, may sell tickets or chances for a raffle. 
 
All other fundraising by Corporation support organizations shall be done in 
accordance with Board Policy 9211 and Policy 9700. 
 
The Superintendent shall include 
 

A. Philosophy 
 

 It is important for Elkhart Community Schools to protect the safety 
of all students within the district, encourage and support the 
positive image of Elkhart Community Schools, recognize the 
increased competition for available contributions to worthy 
organizations, and avoid the appearance of pressure, intimidation, 
or annoyance during school sponsored fundraising activities. 

 
B. Guidelines 

 
1. School sponsored fundraising activities should follow certain 

general guidelines.  The activities should discourage door-to-
door solicitation, bring people into the schools, provide buyers 

with fair return for money spent, indicate the school-related 
purpose for the fundraising event, minimize competition with 
local businesses, avoid promoting activities contradictory to 
appropriate educational goals, and allow for direct contributions 
to individual schools subject to Board approval, as appropriate. 

 
2. This policy applies to the use of any form of crowdfunding 

utilizing an online service or website-based platform for the 

financial benefit or gain of the School Corporation  be it a 
specific classroom, grade level, department, school, or curricular 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5830/page 3 of 4 

(as presented during the 10/9/18 BST meeting) 
 

or extra-curricular activity.  For purposes of this policy, 
“crowdfunding” refers to a campaign to collect typically small 
amounts of money from a large number of individuals to finance 
a project or fundraiser for a specific cause.  Through the use of 
personal networking, social media platforms, and other Internet 

based resources, funds are solicited or raised to support a 
specific campaign or project. 

 
Crowdfunding activities aimed at raising funds for a specific 
classroom or school activity, including extra-curricular activity, 
or to obtain supplemental resources (e.g., supplies or 
equipment) which are not required to provide a free appropriate 
public education to any students in the classroom may be 
permitted, but only with the specific approval of the Board. 
 
Employees are discouraged from accepting cash donations and 
or check written out to them as an individual. 
 
The Superintendent shall develop and regularly update a list of 
approved crowdfunding websites/services, and staff members 
are permitted to conduct crowdfunding campaigns using one of 
the approved sites/services only. 

 
C. Procedures 
 
School sponsored fundraisers must have the prior approval of the Board of School 
Trustees.  Administrators seeking the approval of the Board must submit a written 
request to the Business office which includes the following information: 
 

1. description of the proposed fundraising activity 
 

2. school employee responsible for the fundraising activity 
 

3. school employee responsible for the collection of proceeds 
from the fundraising activity 

 
4. school employee responsible for the ordering of products, and 

 
5. restrictions (if any) on the use of the proceeds from the 

fundraising activity 
 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5830/page 4 of 4 

(as presented during the 10/9/18 BST meeting) 
 

Subsequent to receipt of the forgoing information, the Business Office will submit 
the request to the Board of School Trustee for review. 
 
The Superintendent shall distribute this policy to each organization granted 
permission to solicit funds. 

 
Solicitation by Students or Staff 
 
The solicitation of funds by school classes, organizations, students, or staff is 
subject to the following: 
 

A. Solicitation of the public must be approved by the appropriate 
building principal(s) or the Assistant Superintendent for Instruction 
for solicitations involving more than one building. 

 
B. Solicitation of staff by students or students by staff is discouraged. 
 
C. Solicitation by sale of school pictures, book club programs, class 

rings, school publications, concessions, and book store items to 
students on school property requires principal approval.   

 
Fundraising by School Support Organizations 
 
All fundraising activities should be conducted in such a way that the best 
educational interests of students are served, and the interest of the general public in 
the quiet enjoyment of home and hearth is preserved.  Sections 1(A), 1(B) and 2, 
above, should be used by School Support Organizations as a guide for their 
fundraising activities. 
 
 
 

© NEOLA 2011 
 
June 26, 2018October 23, 2018 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 1 of 7 
 

 

 

 

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS 

 
 
High School Graduation 

 

In order to graduate from high school, a student shall 

 
 A. complete the number and type of credits in grades 9-12, except as 

otherwise provided in this policy, required by the Indiana State 
Board of Education,  

   
 B. be enrolled for at least seven (7) semesters in grades 9-12 and  
   
 C. demonstrate proficiency of the academic standards established by 

the Indiana State Board of Education and Elkhart Community 
Schools through satisfactory completion of any one of the following 
three (3) procedures: 

   
 1. The student achieves passing scores on applicable 

examinations required by State law and or the Indiana State 
Board as pre-requisites for graduation; 

   
 2. The student who does not achieve passing scores on required 

examinations may be eligible to graduate if the student does 
the following:   

   
 a. retakes the required examinations in each subject area 

in which the student has not achieved a passing score 
at least one (1) time every school year after the school 
year in which the student first takes the required 
examinations; 

   
 b. completes remediation opportunities provided to the 

student as outlined in Administrative Guideline 5460 
Section A(5)(2); 

   
 c. maintains a school attendance rate of at least 

ninety-five percent (95%) with excused absences not 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 2 of 7 
 

 

counting against the student’s attendance; 
   
 d. maintains at least a “C-” average in the courses 

comprising the credits specifically required by the 
Indiana State Board of Education; and 

   
 e. either 
   
 1) obtain a written recommendation from a teacher 

of the student in each subject area of the  
required examinations in which the student has 
not achieved a passing score.  In order for a 
recommendation to be valid,  

   
 a) the principal must concur with the 

teacher recommendation, and 
   
 b) the recommendation must be supported 

by documentation, including the 
completion of the Evidence-Based 
Waiver – Core-40 Diploma form or the 
Evidence-Based Waiver – Alternate 
Documentation or Special Education for 
General Diploma form, indicating the 
student has attained the academic 
standards in the subject area based upon 

   
 (1) tests other than the required 

examinations; or 
   
 (2) classroom work; or 
   

 2) Complete 
   
 a) the course and credit requirements for a 

general diploma, including the career 
academic sequence; 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 3 of 7 
 

 

 
 
   
 b) a workforce readiness assessment; and 
   
 c) at least one (1) career exploration 

internship, cooperative education, or 
workforce credential recommended by the 
student’s school. 

   
 3. Where a student is a child with a disability (as defined in 

IC 20-35-1-2), the student’s case conference committee finds 
the following: 

   
 a.  The student’s teacher of record, in consultation with a 

teacher of the student in each subject area of the 
required examinations in which the student has not 
received a passing score, makes a written 
recommendation to the case conference committee.  In 
order for a recommendation to be valid: 

   
 1) the principal must concur with the teacher 

recommendation; and 
   
 2) the recommendation must be supported by 

documentation, including the completion of the 
Evidence-Based Waiver – Core-40 Diploma form 
or the Evidence-Based Waiver – Alternate 
Documentation or Special Education for General 
Diploma form, indicating the student has 
attained the academic standards in the subject 
area based upon 

   
 a) tests other than the required 

examinations; or 
   
 b) classroom work. 
   
 b. The student meets all of the following requirements: 
   
 1) retakes the  required examinations in each 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 4 of 7 
 

 

subject area in which the student has not 
achieved a passing score as often as required by 
the student’s individualized education program; 

   
 2) completes remediation opportunities provided to 

the student to the extent required by the 
student’s individualized education program; 

   
 3) maintains a school attendance rate of at least 

ninety-five percent (95%) to the extent required 
by the student’s individualized education 
program with excused absences not counting 
against the student’s attendance; 

   
 4) maintains at least a “C-” average in the courses 

comprising the credits specifically required for 
graduation by rule of the Indiana State Board of 
Education and Elkhart Community Schools. 

   
 D. Additional Requirements for Students with Disabilities 
   
  During the student’s annual case review held when a student with a 

disability is enrolled in 8th grade, the case conference committee 
shall review and discuss with the student’s parent (and the student, 
if appropriate): 

   
 1. The types of diplomas available for students to receive in the 

State of Indiana; 
   
 2. The course requirements for each type of diploma; and 
   
 3. Employment and career options for the student and the type 

of academic, technical, and vocational preparation necessary 
to achieve the employment or career. 

   
  The student’s IEP must include the type of diploma the student will 

seek and courses which will allow the student to progress towards 
the diploma in a timely manner.  The Corporation shall not require 
students with disabilities to complete locally required credits that 
exceed State credit requirements to receive a diploma unless 
otherwise required as part of the student’s IEP. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 5 of 7 
 

 

   
  Beginning in grade 9 and in addition to the annual case review, the 

student’s teacher of record shall communicate at least once each 
grading period with the student’s parent concerning the student’s 
progress towards the selected diploma.  If the parent requests a 
meeting with the teacher of record to discuss the student’s progress, 
the teacher must meet with the parent in a timely manner.  Such a 
meeting does not constitute a case conference committee meeting, 
and a request for such a meeting does not abrogate a parent’s right 
to call for a meeting of the case conference committee at any time. 

   
 E. Otherwise, satisfy all State and local graduation requirements. 
 
Early Graduation 
 
For students fulfilling all graduation requirements as established in Section 1 of this 
policy in less than seven (7) semesters, a waiver may be requested.  An application 
specifying the circumstances which make the waiver advisable will be submitted to 
the Superintendent of Schools for his review and approval. 
 
A student qualifying for early graduation by the end of grade eleven (11) is eligible 
for a state early graduation scholarship subject to the provisions of Indiana statutes.  
Any student requesting an early graduation may obtain information regarding the 
scholarship from the guidance department. 
 
Granting Diplomas 
 
 A. Students enrolled in the Corporation shall have the opportunity to 

earn any type of State diploma approved by the Indiana State Board 
of Education. 

   
 B. Transfers from Other Districts 

   
  Any student, who completes his/her final semester of attendance 

and has earned at least six (6) credits from an Elkhart high school 
during this time, may be granted a diploma from an Elkhart high 
school. That student must also complete all requirements for 
graduation from high school established by the State of Indiana as 
described in Section 1 of this policy.  The Superintendent may waive 
the requirement that the student earn six (6) credits from an Elkhart 
high school if that student has completed all requirements for 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 6 of 7 
 

 

graduation from high school established by the State of Indiana as 
described in Section 1 of this policy.  

   
 C. Transfers within Elkhart Community Schools 
   
  Elkhart high schools will grant a diploma to any student who has 

been in attendance at Elkhart high schools for seven (7) semesters 
and has completed all other State and local requirements for 
graduation as described in Section 1 of this policy. 

   
 D. Course Completion 
   
  Elkhart high schools will grant a Course Completion to a student 

who satisfies the requirements established in Section 1(A) and (B) of 
this policy, but who does not meet the academic standards 
established by the State of Indiana through satisfactory completion 
of any one (1) of the three (3) procedures established in Section 1(C) 
of this policy. 

   
 E. Certificate of Completion 
   
  Upon the recommendation of the student’s teacher of record, 

Elkhart high schools will grant a Certificate of Completion to a child 
with a disability (as defined in IC 20-35-1-2) who is not eligible to 
receive a diploma or a Course Completion, but who has completed 
the four (4) year educational program as established through the 
student’s IEP. 

   
 F. Credit for Courses Completed Before Students Enter Grade 9 
   
  Credit earned for high school equivalent courses taken before 

students enter grade 9 will be granted in a manner consistent with 

Indiana laws, the rules and regulations adopted by the Indiana State 
Board of Education, and the Elkhart Community Schools.  

   
 G. Credit for Courses Completed More Than One (1) Time 
   
 1. A student may repeat a high school course in which credit 

has been earned.  Credit for a course required for graduation 
will only be granted one (1) time, and the highest grade 
earned will be used to calculate student’s GPA. 



policy 
 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES STUDENTS 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 5460/page 7 of 7 
 

 

   
 2. The student's transcript will show the course each time it was 

completed and the grade assigned for each completion. 
   
 3. Some courses may be taken for multiple credits with all 

credits contributing to the GPA (e.g. band, choir, etc.). 
 
 H. A student who participates in the AFJROTC program may earn an 

additional PE credit after completing a successful year of AFJROTC. 
 
I.C. 20-26-5-37 
I.C. 20-32-4-1 through 10 
I.C. 20-35-4-11 
511 IAC 6-7.1-4 through 7 
 
 
July 25, 2017October 23, 2018 



Page 14 JC 
School District Boundaries Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 

 
 

 
WOODLAND 

 
North:  West East on County Road 6 (neither side) from the John Weaver Parkway to the 

intersection of County Roads 5; southeast on Edwardsburg Avenue extended (both 
sides, including all of Zentz Drive but not any of the Bristol Street apartments) to W. 
Bristol Street; east on W. Bristol Street to Cassopolis Street. 

 
East:  South on Cassopolis Street to Mishawaka Street extended.   
 
South:  West on Mishawaka Street extended to N. Michigan Street: south on N. Michigan 

Street (both sides) to W. Beardsley Street; west on W. Beardsley Street to Nappanee 
Street; south on Nappanee Street, west and south excluding Rainbow Bend 
Boulevard, Aspin Drive and Gruber Lane, to the St. Joseph River; west on the St. 
Joseph River to a point south of the entrance of the Lexington Industrial Park on old 
U.S. 20. 

 
West:  North to the entrance of the Lexington Industrial Park on old U.S. 20; east on old 

U.S. 20 (both sides) to County Road 3; north on County Road 3 (both sides) to 
County Road 12; west on County Road 12 (both sides) to County Road 101; north 
on County Road 101 (both sides) to County Road 108; west on County Road 108 
(neither side) to County Road 1; north on County Road 1 (neither side) to County 
Road 8; east to the intersection of County Road 10 and Starner Avenue; north to the 
intersection of John Weaver Parkway and County Road 6.  

 



Page 15 JC 
School District Boundaries Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 

 
 
 

NORTH SIDE MIDDLE SCHOOL 
 
North:  East on the state line from Cassopolis Street to a point on State Line Road due north 

of the intersection of Lake Shore Drive and County Road 4. 
 
East:  South from a point on State Line Road due north of the intersection of Lake Shore 

Drive and County Road 4 to said intersection: south and east on Lake Shore Drive 
(both neither sides) to a point due north of the intersection of County Roads 15 and 
104; south from that point to the intersection of County Roads 15 and 104; south on 
County Road 15 to Bristol Street (County Road 10); east on Bristol St to a point 135 
feet east of the intersection of Meadowbank Drive and Bristol Street (County Road 
10); south from that point to the St. Joseph River;  west on the St. Joseph River to 
Main Street;  south on Main Street to Prairie Street; south on Prairie Street to Indiana 
Avenue. 

 
South:  West on Indiana Avenue to Oakland Avenue. 
 
West:  North on Oakland Avenue (neither side) to Franklin Street; east on Franklin Street to 

the junction of Franklin Street and S. Shore Drive; north to the St. Joseph River; east 
and north on the St. Joseph River to the Sherman Street Bridge; west on Bower 
Street (neither side) to Michigan Street; north on Michigan Street (neither side) to 
Edwardsburg Avenue; northwest on Edwardsburg Avenue extended (neither side - 
not any of Zentz Drive, but including the Bristol Street Apartments) to the 
intersection of County Roads 5 and 6; east on County Road 6 (neither side - not any 
of Merlin Isle or Creekside) to Cassopolis Street; north on Cassopolis Street to the 
state line. 

 
 
 
 
  



Page 16 JC 
School District Boundaries Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 

 
 

PIERRE MORAN MIDDLE SCHOOL 
 
North:  East on the state line from a point due north of the intersection of Lake Shore Drive 

and County Road 4 to the Washington-York Township line. 
 
East:  South on the Washington-York Township line to the Washington-Jefferson 

township line. 
 
South: West on the Washington-York Township line to the Washington-Concord Township 

line; north on the Washington-Concord Township line (County Road 17) to the St. 
Joseph River; west on the St. Joseph River to Middleton Run Road extended; south 
on Middleton Run Road to .14 of a mile north of Middlebury Street; east, south, and 
west on an irregular line back to Middleton Run Road at Middlebury Street (this 
includes lot one and part of lot two in Fair Acres Addition and adjacent land totaling 
8.4 acres.); south on Middleton Run Road to .12 of a mile south of Middlebury 
Street; west to Hall Manor addition; south to Bryant Street; west to Hall Avenue; 
south to .25 of a mile south of Middlebury Street; west .33 of a mile to Toledo Road 
(excluding approximately four acres of land on either side of Rowe Street); west on 
Toledo Road (neither side) to Outer Drive; north on Outer Drive about 200 feet; east 
200 feet and north to Middlebury Street; west on Middlebury Street to the east city 
limits (approximately in line with Clayton Street and Parker Avenue, including 
Buildings 300, 500, 700, and 900 in the Woodwind community); south to Indiana 
Avenue extended; west on Indiana Avenue extended to the Elkhart River; south on 
the Elkhart River to Clayton Avenue extended; south on Clayton Avenue to 
Bontrager Avenue; west on Bontrager Avenue extended to DeCamp Avenue 
extended; north on DeCamp Avenue extended to Hively Avenue; west on Hively 
Avenue to a point 225 feet east of Benham Avenue; south to approximately 425 feet 
north of Mishawaka Road; west to Benham Avenue, continue west .2 of a mile on a 
parallel to Mishawaka Road; north and east to Benham Avenue to include the 
Biblical Seminary; north on Benham Avenue to Hively Avenue; west on Hively 
Avenue to Compton Avenue extended; north on Compton Avenue extended to 
Carlton Avenue; west on Carlton Avenue to 6th Street. 

 
West:  North on 6th Street to Indiana Avenue; east on Indiana Avenue to Prairie Street; 

north on Prairie Street to Main Street; north on Main Street to the St. Joseph River; 
east on the St. Joseph River to a point on the river which is due south of a point 135 
feet east of the intersection of Meadowbank Drive and Bristol Street (County Road 
10); west on Bristol Street (County Road 10) to County Road 15; north on County 
Road 15 (extended) to Lake Shore Drive; west and north on Lake Shore Drive (both 
sides) to County Road 4; north from the intersection of Lake Shore Drive and 
County Road 4 to the Indiana State Line. 

 
 
 
 
  



Page 17 JC 
School District Boundaries Proposed Revised Administrative Regulation 

 
 
  
 WEST SIDE MIDDLE SCHOOL 
 
North:  East on the state line from the intersection of the Elkhart-St. Joseph County and the 

state line to Cassopolis Street. 
 
East:  South to the intersection of Cassopolis Street and County Road 6; west on County 

Road 6 (both sides - including Merlin Isle and Creekside) to County Road 5; 
southeast on Edwardsburg Avenue extended (both sides - including all of Zentz 
Drive but not any of the Bristol Street apartments) to Michigan Street; south on 
Michigan Street (both sides) to Bower Street; east on Bower Street (both sides) to 
the St. Joseph River; south and west on the St. Joseph River and across the river to 
the junction of South Shore Drive and Franklin Street; west on Franklin Street to 
Oakland Avenue; south on Oakland Avenue (both sides) to Indiana Avenue; east on 
Indiana Avenue to 6th Street; south on 6th Street to Hively Avenue. 

 
South:  West on Hively Avenue to Oakland Avenue; north on Oakland Avenue to the north 

property line of Oaklawn Center; east to the west property line of Southdale Drive; 
north to the south property line of Sunrise Drive south; west to Oakland Avenue; 
south on Oakland Avenue to the south property line of the Armory (966 feet north of 
Hively Avenue); west to 15th Street extended; north on 15th Street extended to 
Leininger Avenue; west on Leininger Avenue (both sides) to 17th Street; south on 
17th Street to an east-west alley extended; west on the alley extended to 18th Street; 
north on 18th  Street to Leininger Avenue, west on Leininger Avenue (both sides) to 
Nappanee Street; north on Nappanee Street to St. Joseph River; west on the St. 
Joseph River to the Elkhart-St. Joseph County Line. 

 
West:  North on the Elkhart-St. Joseph County line to the state line. 
 
 
  
  

February 13, 2018October 23, 2018



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 1 of 13 
 
 

PARAPROFESSIONALS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
 
The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 
paraprofessionals to be effective January 1, 2018. 

 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule 
 
 A. No B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education 
   

 Step ECS Experience as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 

   A B 

 1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 
(Probationary Rate) 

10.05 9.51 

 2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 10.17 9.87 

 3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 10.67 10.39 

 4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 11.22 10.89 

 5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 11.74 11.38 

 6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 12.17 11.81 

 7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 12.72 12.32 

 8 6 years or more, but less than 7 years 13.19 12.80 

 9 7 years or more 13.74 13.32 

     
 B. B.A. or B.S. Degree in Education   
     

 Step ECS Experience* as Paraprofessional Hourly Rate 

  *subject to Sections 2-A-5 and 2-B-2 A B 

 1 0 days or more, but less than 55 days 
(Probationary Rate) 

10.79 10.51 

 2 55 days or more, but less than 1 year 11.22 10.89 

 3 1 year or more, but less than 2 years 11.74 11.38 

 4 2 years or more, but less than 3 years 12.17 11.81 

 5 3 years or more, but less than 4 years 12.72 12.32 

 6 4 years or more, but less than 5 years 13.19 12.80 

 7 5 years or more, but less than 6 years 13.74 13.32 

     
 Key: Column A = Less than four (4) hours/day employees 
  Column B = Four (4) or more hours/day employees (In 

addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to 
PERF will be paid by Elkhart Community School. 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 2 of 13 
 
 
Explanation of Schedules 
 
 A. Paraprofessional with no B.A. or B.S. Degree 
   
 1. An employee who does not possess by January 1 of each year 

a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree in education 
from an accredited four year college or university shall be 
classified as a "paraprofessional" and shall be paid a wage in 
accordance with the Wage Schedule, pursuant to 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule-A of this Policy. 

   
 2. Any paraprofessional with thirty (30) or more but less than 

ninety (90) semester hours credit as described in part 4 of 
this section shall be placed on Step 3 of the salary schedule 
after successful completion of probationary employment. 
 

 3. Any paraprofessional with ninety (90) or more semester hours 
credit as described in part 4 of this section shall be placed on 
Step 4 of the salary schedule after successful completion of 
probationary employment. 

   
 4. All semester credit hours must be a part of a regular college 

or university program leading to a B.A. or B.S. degree in 
education, and a letter of verification shall be submitted to 
the Director of Human Resources for approval before credit 
towards experience is granted. 

   
 5. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or 

educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement, 
but in no case will an employee be placed at Step 8 or higher. 

   

 6. Director of Human Resources/Designee may place 
paraprofessionals in hard to fill positions (e.g. emotionally 
disabled, intense intervention) on steps 4 – 8 of the 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule at their date of hire. 

   
 7. No change in wage status due to earned credit hours shall be 

made at any time other than January 1 of each year. 
   
 8. Paraprofessionals employed on or before January 1, 1976, 

who possess a B.A. or B.S. college degree in a field other than 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 3 of 13 
 

educational shall be eligible for placement on 
Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule – B, Paraprofessional Wage 
Schedule. 

   
 B. Paraprofessional with a B.A. or B.S. Degree 
 
 1. Upon completion of a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science 

degree in education, a paraprofessional shall be classified, 
beginning January 1 of the year following completion of said 
degree, as a "paraprofessional" and shall be paid a wage in 
accordance with the Paraprofessional Wage Schedule, pursuant 
to Paraprofessionals’ Wage Schedule – B of this Policy. 

   
 2. Verified experience as a teacher, substitute teacher, or 

educational aide will be evaluated to determine placement, but 
in no case will an employee be placed at Step 6 or higher. 

   
 C. Wage Differentials 
   
  C1. Paraprofessionals assigned to emotionally disabled classrooms 

as well as special education classrooms where custodial care 
and lifting are required shall be paid a differential of $1.00 per 
hour over their existing rate.  In addition, paraprofessionals 
who are required to perform pre-trip inspections of activity 
busses will be paid a differential of $1.00 per hour over their 
existing rate. 

   
  D2. Elementary library paraprofessionals and technology 

instructional paraprofessionals shall be paid a differential of 
$1.00 per hour over their existing rate. 

   
  E3. Technology instructional paraprofessionals who obtain and 

maintain certification prescribed by the Director of Technology 
Integration shall receive an additional pay differential of $1.00 
per hour. 

    
  4. Paraprofessionals assigned to the Elkhart Academy, both 

secondary and elementary, shall be paid a differential of $1.00 
per hour over their existing rate. 

   



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 4 of 13 
 
 
 FD. Paraprofessional Career Increment Schedule 
   
 Years regularly employed by Elkhart Amount of Hourly 
 Community Schools Career Increment 
   
 5 or more, but less than 10 .20 
 10 or more, but less than 15 .30 
 15 or more, but less than 17 .40 
 17 or more, but less than 20 .50 
 20 or more .60 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits 
 
 A. Income Protection and Annuities 
   
  The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for 

regular classified employees to purchase income protection and 
tax-sheltered annuities.  This is done by specifications and through 
a company or broker approved by the Board. 

   
 B. Insurance 
   
  In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community 

Schools contributes toward a policy for each regular classified 
employee, working 30 or more hours per week, who is a member of 
the group hospitalization, major medical and life insurance program 
approved by the Board of School Trustees.  Eligible employees’ may 
select one of the plans provided by the Board. 

   
   

 

The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the 
employee’s annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand 
dollars.  The Board will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the 
premium cost of a group long-term disability insurance policy for 
employees who work thirty (30) or more hours per week. 

   
 C. Severance Benefits 
   
  Paraprofessionals who have completed a minimum of six (6) months 

of active service with the Elkhart Community Schools will be eligible 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 5 of 13 
 

for the following benefits upon written resignation received by the 
Director of Human Resources at least ten (10) working days prior to 
the last date of employment. 

   
 1. Resignation 
   
  Employees shall be paid for unused personal business leave 

in the current year of employment at the rate of pay in effect 
at termination.  The effective date of resignation shall be 
established to include use of all personal leave. 

 
   
 2. Retirement, Death, or Disability 
   
  The benefits listed below are in addition to those in 

Paraprofessionals’ Fringe Benefits. 
 

   
 a. For purposes of this benefit, “retirement” shall be 

defined as resignation by an employee who at the time 
of retirement is age sixty (60) and has ten (10) or more 
consecutive years of employment in the Elkhart 
Community Schools or who is age fifty-five (55) and 
has fifteen (15) or more consecutive years of 
employment in Elkhart Community Schools.  Only the 
six (6) months service requirement must be met to be 
eligible for the disability or death benefit. 

 
   
  The requirement for consecutive years of employment 

is modified only under the following conditions: If a 
paraprofessional leaves the employment of the Elkhart 

Community Schools for any reason and for any period 
of time and then return to employment with the 
Elkhart Community Schools, the years of service 
completed prior to this break in employment will be 
counted toward the years of employment requirement 
for severance benefits, but the employee must work 
two additional years beyond the total number required 
to normally reach the years of employment 
requirement.  For example, if a paraprofessional works 
for the district for eight (8) years, leaves the district’s 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 6 of 13 
 

employment for one (1) year and then returns to 
employment, s/he must work another four (4) years in 
order to meet the age sixty (60) and ten (10) years of 
experience requirement, or nine (9) years in order to 
meet the age fifty-five (55) and fifteen (15) years of 
experience requirement.  In addition, there can only be 
one break in employment under this exception to the 
consecutive years of service requirement.  If there is 
more than one break in service, the paraprofessional’s 
prior years of service will not be counted and the 
consecutive service requirement will apply. 

   
 b. A maximum of thirty-five (35) accumulated days of 

unused personal leave will be paid to eligible 
employees who retire, die, or become totally 
permanently disabled while employed by the Elkhart 
Community Schools. In the event of death, the benefit 
shall be paid to the decedent’s estate. 

   
 c. In addition, employees who are fifty five (55) years of 

age or older and have at least fifteen (15) years of 
service and who have been insured under the Elkhart 
Community Schools’ group insurance plan for at least 
the last five (5) years, shall be eligible to continue in 
that program until age sixty five (65) by paying 100% of 
the premiums in advance at the business office. 

   
 d. When retiring, a Paraprofessional may select one of the 

following benefits based upon the employee’s daily rate 
at the time of retirement: 

   
 1) Two (2) day’s pay for each full year employed by 

the Elkhart Community Schools, or 
   
 2) At least forty-five percent (45%) of the unused 

sick leave will be paid, in accordance with the 
provisions in the Paraprofessional employee 
booklet. 

   
 D. Change in Paraprofessionals Classification 
   
  When any classified employee is employed in another classified 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 7 of 13 
 

employee group, all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years 
of accrued service and accumulated benefit days will continue, 
subject to Board Policy. 

 
Absences 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy. (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain 
illness and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the 
days to which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for 
which prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the 
discretion of the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification 
satisfactory to the employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school 
year shall be considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or 
termination.  Upon written request received by the appropriate administrator, at 
least two (2) weeks in advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or 
less consecutive working days may be approved.  The best interests of the school 
corporation will be considered. 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
 A. School-year Employees 
   
 1. Regular school year classified employees will be allowed the 

number of hours equal to one (1) workday per month of 

employment for personal illness/family illness leave 
   
 2. Any unused hours will accumulate as personal illness 

absence to a total of the number of hours equal to 120 
workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by a school year 
employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot 
be used again unless the employee is employed for the 
following school year or employed at a later date. 

   



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 8 of 13 
 
 
 B. All Employees 
   
 1. The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s 

approval to return to work following an illness. 
 
   
 2. An employee injured in the performance of his/her duties is 

eligible for Worker’s Compensation.  The employee is required 
to complete an injury report form on the day of the injury and 
to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the 
employer.  Time required for the employee to recuperate from 
any personal injury arising out of and in the course of 
employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws 
regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation 
benefits will begin after seven (7) calendar days at a rate of 
sixty six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee’s 
average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the health/life 
insurance premium must be paid in advance to the Business 
Office or insurance will be terminated.  An employee may 
receive full pay by using available illness absence, personal 
business, and/or vacation benefits. 

 
Bereavement 
 
Each regular classified employee shall be entitled to be absent from work without 
loss of compensation on account of death in the immediate family for a period 
extending not more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond 
each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, step-parents, brother, sister, 
spouse, child, step-children, grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, 

mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any 
other member of the family unit regularly living in the same household as the 
employee. 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend 
the funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s), with or without pay, may be 
granted by the Superintendent or designee. 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 9 of 13 
 
Military Leave 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be 
required or shall elect to enter the military service.  This will permit the employee to 
return to take a comparable position after s/he receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be 
entitled to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) 
calendar year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee 
has received the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check 
to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made 
for each day of paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from 
temporary training or leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position 
without loss of vacation, sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
Health Leave 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action, regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
The Board, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular employee on leave 
for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental health of the employee 
is interfering with the successful performance of his/her responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 

 
Health Leave - Procedure 
 
Through Board of School Trustees’ action regular classified employees may be 
granted a health leave after one (1) year of service.  Requests for health leave by an 
employee must be submitted in writing and must be supported by a physician’s 
statement. 
 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 10 of 13 
 
The Board of School Trustees, after examining medical evidence, may place a regular 
employee on leave for health reasons if, in its judgment, the physical or mental 
health of the employee is interfering with the successful performance of his/her 
responsibilities. 
 
Health leaves may be granted for a maximum period of one (1) year.  An employee 
shall be afforded the opportunity to continue participation in any insurance program 
in which s/he is enrolled.  Such participation shall be at the employee’s own 
expense. 
 
 A. After all available benefit days have been exhausted, or 
   
 B. When a physician’s statement indicating inability to perform regular 

duties for an extended period of time has been provided, or 
   
 C. Upon receipt of a request for placement on such leave by the 

Director of Human Resources from the appropriate administrator. 
 
Should the employee fail to provide a requested physician’s statement within 
thirty (30) days after s/he has used all benefits, it will be grounds for termination.  
In addition, the employer may require an employee to have an examination by a 
physician.  The cost of any such examination will be paid by the employer. 
 
In the event an employee is incapacitated, a family member or legal guardian may 
submit the request for health leave, and any required documentation. 
 
An employee may return from health leave with a physician’s statement indicating 
the ability to perform the job responsibilities.  Employment will be held for a period 
of up to one (1) year.  After the employee has been on leave for a year, s/he will be 
eligible for re-employment when an opening for which s/he is qualified becomes 
available. 
 

Personal Leave 
 
Regular classified employees are entitled to the number of hours equal to two (2) 
workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without loss of 
pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the 
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which 
the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 11 of 13 
 
Personal Leave - Procedure 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 
absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
 

 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 
or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
Jury and Witness Duty Pay 

 
Jury Duty 
 
All paraprofessionals will be granted excused absence when they are subpoenaed to 
serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the 
employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or copy of the check shall 
be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to jury duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check. 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 12 of 13 
 
Witness Duty 
 
In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases noted 
below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental administrative 
agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the time during the 
working day which the employee is required to be present.  Such absence, up to 
three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of wages.  For cases involving 
extended absence to witness, the superintendent may grant additional days with 
pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, or without pay.  When the 
employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, a copy of the check shall be 
presented to the payroll office, whereupon a deduction equal to witness duty pay will 
be made from the next payroll check.  The employee will not be paid when such 
testimony is given in any employee relations related litigation involving the employer 
or any other school employer, unless the employer subpoenas the employee to 
testify. 
 
Parental Leave 
 
A leave, without pay, may be granted to any expectant parent upon written request 
of the employee to the Director of Human Resources.  In the event that the employee 
is pregnant, the leave may be requested to begin any time between thirty (30) days 
after the Director of Human Resources is notified of the pregnancy and thirty (30) 
days after the birth of the child.  For employees who are not pregnant, the leave may 
be requested to begin any time within thirty (30) days of the date that the child is 
expected in the home.  In cases of emergency the thirty (30) day notification period 
may be waived.  Leaves may be requested for a period not to exceed one (1) year, and 
are non-renewable. 
 
The staff member shall return to the first position which becomes available for which 
s/he is qualified, as determined by the employer, or waive any right to re-
employment.  For the period of the leave, a staff member may continue in any group 
insurance program for which s/he is eligible, at his/her own expense, by paying the 

full cost of premiums in advance at the Business Office. 
 
Adoptive Leave 
 
An employee who legally adopts a child whose age is less than six (6) years old shall 
be entitled to use family illness leave days to serve as the primary caregiver for the 
adoptive child.  In order to be eligible for paid adoptive leave the employee must 
notify the Director of Human Resources and the employee’s immediate supervisor of 
the request for adoptive leave upon acceptance of the application for adoption.  All 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.08S/page 13 of 13 
 
such leaves shall commence on the date that the child is physically turned over to 
the employee for the employee’s care and legal custody. 
 
 
Paraprofessionals’ Holidays 
 
 A. Definitions 
   
 1. As used in this policy, the term “full-time employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a twelve-month basis and 
who has a regular workday of four (4) or more hours. 

   
 2. As used in this policy, the term “school-year employee” means 

an employee who is employed on a school-year basis and 
works approximately one hundred seventy-five (175) or more 
days per year, and who has a regular workday of four (4) or 
more hours. 

   
 B. Holidays 
   
  School-year classified employees shall be paid for the following 

holidays when they occur on days which they would have worked if 
it were not for that special day, subject to the provisions above: 

   
 1. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
   
 2. Presidents Day 
   
 3. Memorial Day 
   
 4. Labor Day 
   

 5. Thanksgiving Day – two (2) days 
   
 6. Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid 

holiday on the Friday preceding or the Monday following) 

 
December 12, 2017October 23, 2018 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 1 of 6 
 
  
PERMANENT SUBSTITUTE TEACHERS’ COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
Section 1.   PERMANENT SUBSTITUTE TEACHER’S SALARY SCHEDULE 
 
A. The Board of School Trustees hereby adopts the following wage schedule for 

those classified professional employees to be effective August 14, 2018.  In 

addition, the three percent (3%) employee contribution to PERF will be paid 
by Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 2. FRINGE BENEFITS 
 
A. Income Protection and Annuities 
 
 The Elkhart Community Schools provides the opportunity for regular classified 

employees to purchase income protection and tax-sheltered annuities.  This is 
done by specifications and through a company or broker approved by the Board 
of Schools Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools. 

 
B. Insurance 
 

In addition to the basic salary schedule, the Elkhart Community Schools 
contributes toward a policy for each regular classified employee, working 30 
or more hours per week, who is a member of the group hospitalization, major 
medical and life insurance program approved by the Board of School 
Trustees.  Eligible employees’ may select one of the plans provided by the 
Board.    
 
The amount of life insurance coverage is an amount equal to the employee’s 
annual salary or wages rounded up to the next thousand dollars.  The Board 
will contribute ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of a group long-term 

Substitute with 
Bachelors Degree 

and 
Substitute Permit 

Substitute 
with 

Substitute 
Permit only 

Substitute 
with 

Indiana Teacher’s 
License 

$140.00 per day 
180 days 

$25,200.00 

$130.00 per day 
180 days 

$23,400.00 

Daily Rate Based on 
Experience Pursuant to 

Hiring Schedule 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 2 of 6 
 

disability insurance policy for employees who work thirty (30) or more hours 
per week. 

 
C. Change in Classification 
 
 When any classified employee is employed in another classified employee group, 

all comparable benefits will remain in effect.  Years of accrued service and 

accumulated benefit days will continue, subject to Board Policy GDJ.  
 
 
Section 3. ABSENCES 
 
When unable to report for work, it is the employee’s responsibility to notify and give 
the reason for absence to his or her immediate supervisor as soon as possible.  This 
notice is to be given at least one-half (1/2) hour before the time that the employee 
regularly reports for work.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of 
absence.  Deductions for absence will be made at the daily rate unless covered by an 
absence policy.  (No absence report is necessary on emergency closing days when pay 
is not to be received.) 
 
All classified employees employed four (4) or more hours are entitled to certain illness 
and leave benefits.  Absences for all classified personnel in addition to the days to 
which they are entitled shall be considered to be unexcused, except those for which 
prior approval has been granted.  Any absence of an employee may, at the discretion of 
the employer, be subject to proper and sufficient verification satisfactory to the 
employer.  Three (3) days’ unexcused absences in any one school year shall be 
considered excessive and shall be grounds for suspension or termination.  Upon 
written request received by the appropriate administrator, at least two (2) weeks in 
advance (except in emergencies), unpaid absences of five or less consecutive working 
days may be approved.  The best interests of the school corporation will be considered. 
 
 
Section 4. PERSONAL ILLNESS/FAMILY ILLNESS ABSENCES AND LEAVES 
 
Personal Illness/Family Illness Absence 
 
Regular school-year classified employees will be allowed the number of hours equal to 
one (1) workday per month of employment for personal illness/family illness leave. 
 
Any unused hours will accumulate as illness absence to a total of the number of 
hours equal to one hundred twenty (120) workdays.  Use of accumulated sick leave by 
a school-year employee terminates at the close of the school year.  It cannot be used 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 3 of 6 
 
again unless the employee is employed for the following school year or employed at a 
later date. 
 
The Elkhart Community Schools may request a doctor’s approval to return to work 
following an illness. 
 
Family Illness 

 
“Immediate family” shall be interpreted as spouse, children, sister, brother, mother, 
father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparents, 
grandchildren, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, or any other members of the family unit 
living in the same household. “Family Unit” shall mean any person related to the 
employee, genetically or by marriage, or any person for whom the employee is the 
legal guardian. 

 
Job-Related Injury 
 
An employee injured in the performance of his or her duties is eligible for Worker’s 
Compensation. The employee is required to complete an injury report form on the day 
of the injury and to visit the designated medical facility as directed by the employer.  
Time required for the employee to recuperate from any personal injury arising out of 
and in the course of employment responsibility shall be governed by Indiana laws 
regarding Worker’s Compensation.  Worker’s Compensation benefits will begin after 
seven (7) calendar days at a rate of sixty-six and two thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the 
employee’s average wage rate.  The employee’s share of the health/life insurance 
premium must be paid in advance to the Business Office or insurance will be 
terminated.  An employee may receive full pay by using available illness absence, 
personal business, and/or vacation benefits. 
 
 
Section 5. PERSONAL LEAVE 

 
Permanent Substitute Teachers are entitled to the number of hours equal to three 
(3) workdays for absence for personal reasons during each calendar year without 
loss of pay.  A personal leave request form shall be completed and submitted to the 
appropriate administrator to accompany the payroll report for the period in which 
the absence occurs. 
 
Unused personal leave will accumulate for retirement. 
 
Permanent Substitute Teacher’s Personal Leave - Procedure 
 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 4 of 6 
 
Request for personal leave shall be made by completing the classified personal leave 
request form and giving such form to the employee’s supervisor, or authorized 
designee, no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  In the event of an 
unforeseen emergency beyond the control of the employee, which makes it 
impossible to give the twenty-four (24) hours advance notice, the employee shall 
notify the employer as soon as reasonably possible.  When such is the case, the 
written request shall be completed no later than the first day of return from the 

absence. 
 
Except for emergencies, personal business hours shall not be used for the sole 
purpose of extending the school vacation periods of Fall Recess, Thanksgiving, 
Winter Recess, Spring Break or Summer Break as defined by the school calendar 
unless the employee complies with the following procedure: 
 
 A. Once every five (5) years an employee may use personal business 

hours to extend a holiday or vacation period described above by 
exchanging two personal business hours for each personal business 
hour taken adjacent to the holiday or vacation period. 

   
 B. The employee must give notice, in writing, to the Office of the 

Superintendent ten (10) working days in advance of taking said day. 
   
 C. All emergency requests for personal business immediately preceding 

or immediately following vacation periods shall be granted only upon 
approval of the Superintendent or designee.  For the purpose of 
determining when an emergency exists, “emergency” shall be defined 
as an unforeseen event that prohibits the employee from attending 
to his/her assigned duties. 

 
No personal leave will be granted for participation in any strike or work stoppage or 
other concerted action by an employee or employee group. 
 
Section 56. BEREAVEMENT 
 
Employees shall be entitled to be absent from work without loss of compensation on 
account of death in the immediate family for a period extending not more than seven 
(7) consecutive calendar days immediately beyond each death. 
 
“Immediate family” is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, child, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, or any other member of the family unit 
regularly living in the same household as the employee. 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 5 of 6 
 
 
Up to one (1) day’s absence shall be granted without loss of compensation to attend the 
funeral of another relative. 
 
When requested, additional bereavement day(s) with or without pay may be granted by 
the Superintendent or designee. 
 

 
Section 67. MILITARY LEAVE 
 
A leave of absence may be granted by the Board of School Trustees on the 
recommendation of the Superintendent to any regular employee who may be required 
or shall elect to enter the military service.   
 
This will permit the employee to return to take a comparable position after he or she 
receives an honorable discharge. 
 
An employee who, as a reserve member of the armed forces of the United States or of 
the National Guard, is called on to receive temporary military training shall be entitled 
to temporary leave of absence not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) calendar 
year.  Such absence shall result in no loss of wages.  When the employee has received 
the military pay he/she shall present the check or a copy of the check to the payroll 
office, whereupon a deduction equal to the per diem pay will be made for each day of 
paid absence from the next payroll check.  Upon return from temporary training or 
leave, the employee will be restored to a comparable position without loss of vacation, 
sick leave, or other benefits of employment. 
 
 
Section 78. JURY AND WITNESS DUTY PAY 
 
A. Jury Duty 
 
 All Permanent Substitute Teachers will be granted excused absence when they 

are subpoenaed to serve on the jury.  Such absence shall result in no loss of 
wages.  When the employee has received her/his jury duty check, the check or 
copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a 
deduction equal to jury duty pay will be made from the next payroll check. 

 



policy 

 
 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES PERSONNEL 
ELKHART COMMUNITY SCHOOLS Proposed Revised 3422.15S/page 6 of 6 
 
B. Witness Duty 
 

In the event an employee is subpoenaed to serve as a witness, except in cases 
noted below, and gives testimony before a court of law or governmental 
administrative agency, the employee shall be granted absence to witness for the 
time during the working day which the employee is required to be present.  
Such absence, up to three (3) days for any one case, shall result in no loss of 

wages.  For cases involving extended absence to witness, the superintendent 
may grant additional days with pay, with substitute deduction where applicable, 
or without pay.  When the employee is in receipt of his/her witness duty check, 
a copy of the check shall be presented to the payroll office, whereupon a 
deduction equal to witness duty pay will be made from the next payroll check.  
The employee will not be paid when such testimony is given in any employee 
relations related litigation involving the employer or any other school employer, 
unless the employer subpoenas the employee to testify. 
 

 
Section 89. HOLIDAYS 
 
Permanent Substitute Teachers shall be paid for the following holidays when they 
occur on days which they would have worked if it were not for that special day, 
subject to the provisions above: 
 

 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

 Presidents Day 

 Memorial Day 

 Labor Day 

 Thanksgiving Day and Friday following (2 days) 

 Christmas Day (if celebrated on a weekend, it will be a paid holiday on the 
Friday preceding or the Monday following) 
 

 
August 14, 2018October 23, 2018 



What is the 

title of the 

grant?

What is the 

name of the 

granting 

agency/

entity?

Please list 

school/entity 

applying.

Individual/

contact applying 

for the grant?

What is the 

amount

applied for?

How will the grant funds be used 

and who will oversee the 

management of the grant?

Please explain how the grant funds will be 

used to support the district vision, focus, and 

goals. 

Please outline the grant budget for 

the funds requested.

What is the 

grant submission 

deadline?

Annie's Grants 

for Gardens 

2018

Annie's 

Homegrown, 

Inc.

Mary Beck Lindsey Walters $2,930.40 The grant funds will be used to 

create our learning garden. This 

money will be specifically used for 

classroom/grade level beds for 

students to raise food and crops. 

The money will also be used to 

purchase dirt, materials for 

building raised beds, plants/seeds, 

and gardening care materials. 

Lindsey Walters will manage the 

grant.

These gardens will be used to support our 

science, social studies, and math standards at 

the school. Mary Beck participated in 

developing project-based learning units over 

the summer that revolve around planting and 

maintaining gardens at Beck. These gardens 

will help students learn about growing food, soil 

composition, growing seasons, and the 

economics of raising our own food. These 

gardens will help prepare our students to be 

environmentally conscious and aware of where 

their food comes from. Each grade level will 

work in the gardens with the goal of having 

summer camps and a farmer's market at Beck 

for the neighborhood.

Gardening equipment: $250.00

Compost, mulch, peat moss, soil: $500.00

Materials for raised beds (10 raised beds): 

30 4x4s from Lowe's @ $12.68: $380.40

Plants for butterfly and sensory gardens: 

$500.00

Seeds for planting beds: $100.00

Outdoor tables, seating, paint: $1,200.00

TOTAL: $2,930.40

11/1/2018

Lowe's Toolbox 

for Education

Lowe's Mary Beck Lindsey Walters $3,730.40 The grant funds will be used to 

create our learning garden. This 

money will be specifically used for 

classroom/grade level beds for 

students to raise food and crops. 

The money will also be used to 

purchase dirt, materials for 

building raised beds, plants/seeds, 

and gardening care materials. 

Money will also be used to build a 

sensory garden and butterfly 

garden to support curriculum 

across grade levels. Lindsey 

Walters will manage the grant.

These gardens will be used to support our 

science, social studies, and math standards at 

the school. Mary Beck participated in 

developing project-based learning units over 

the summer that revolve around planting and 

maintaining gardens at Beck. These gardens 

will help students learn about growing food, soil 

composition, growing seasons, and the 

economics of raising our own food. These 

gardens will help prepare our students to be 

environmentally conscious and aware of where 

their food comes from. Each grade level will 

work in the gardens with the goal of having 

summer camps and a farmer's market at Beck 

for the neighborhood. Students at Beck also 

participate in hatching and raising butterflies 

each year. By building a butterfly garden, we 

can support curriculum and enhance student 

learning. The sensory garden will provide a 

safe, relaxing place for students to recenter 

themselves and enjoy the garden. Our intense 

special education class is looking forward to 

helping design this garden.

Gardening equipment: $250.00

Compost, mulch, peat moss, soil: $500.00

Materials for raised beds (10 raised beds): 

30 4x4s from Lowe's @ $12.68: $380.40

Plants for butterfly and sensory gardens: 

$500.00

Seeds for planting beds: $100.00

Outdoor tables, seating, paint: $2,000.00

TOTAL: $3,730.40

10/31/2018

Page 1 of 1

















 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To:   Mr. Mark Mow 

From:  Ms. Cheryl Waggoner 

Date: October 23, 2018 

 

Personnel Recommendations 

 

 

CERTIFIED 

 

 

 

a. New Certified Staff – We recommend the following new certified staff for employment in the 

2018-19 school year: 

 

Itanya Coon-Kauffman Pierre Moran/Science 

 

Nina Jaebker   West Side/Counselor 

 

Earl Knudson   Pierre Moran/Physical Education 

 

Victor Muniz   Eastwood/Grade 2 

 

Suzanne Ragsdale  Roosevelt/Art 

 

 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employees: 

 

Jill Balcom   Bristol/Principal 

Began:  8/22/88   Resign:  10/24/18 

 

Nicole Perry   Pinewood/Special Education 

Began:  12/14/15  Resign:  10/18/18 

 

 

c. Correction – We report a change to the resignation date of the following employee: 

 

Jennifer Beer   West Side/Counselor 

Began:  8/15/14   Resign:  10/18/18  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

CLASSIFIED 

 

a. Retirement – We report the retirement of the following employees:   

 

Robert House, Jr  Commissary/Catering Driver 

Began: 8/27/01   Retire: 11/30/18 

    17 Years of Service 

 

Kenneth Bennett  West Side/Custodian 

Began:  12/10/07  Retire:  10/26/18 

    10 Years of Service 

 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following employees: 

 

Corina Gonzalez  Pinewood/Food Services 

Began: 3/11/13   Resign: 10/26/18 

 

Kimberly Sutton  Eastwood/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/3/12   Resign: 10/24/18  

 

Tanya Terry   Monger/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/26/15  Resign: 10/30/18 

  
c. Termination – We report the termination of the following employees: 

 

Loretta Champlin  Daly/Food Service 

Began: 8/18/16   End:  10/23/18 

    Board Policy: 3139.01s 

 

Edward Goins Jr.  Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 4/13/17   End:  10/3/18  

    Board Policy: 3162ACS 

 

d. New Hires – We recommend regular employment of the following employees: 

 

Callie Alford   Woodland/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Jenna Armstrong  Feeser/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Margaret Beaver  PACE/Speech Language Pathologist Assistant 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 

 

Jalethia Black   Osolo/Food Service 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 



 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 

Carrie Conway  Central/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Nicole Crandall  Beardsley/Secretary 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Kendra Crump  Eastwood/Food Service 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Amaryllis Dunn  Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

John Faigh   Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 

 

Catelynn Fuller  Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/28/18   PE: 10/22/18 

 

Michelle Genslinger  Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Amanda Gulis   Cleveland/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Maria Ha   Beck/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Mariah Harney  Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 5/23/18   PE: 9/26/18 

 

Randall Hirsh   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Haley Kidder   Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Shirley Kelly   Osolo/Food Service 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Karri Kinney   Pinewood/Food Service 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 

 

Tracy Laribee   Cleveland/Food Service 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 



 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

 

Casey Lemerand  Daly/Speech Language Pathologist Assistant 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 

 

Wanda Lipa   Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Cheyenne Magyar   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Derek McBride  Technology/Support Technician  

Began: 8/27/18   PE: 10/21/18 

  

LB Hannah McDaniel  Feeser/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Sesalie Nelson   Daly/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Patrick Nussbaum  Central/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Alta Radelich     Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 5/16/18   PE: 9/19/18 

 

Jane Rehl   Transportation/Bus Driver 

Began: 8/27/18   PE: 10/21/18 

 

Jessalyn Rink   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Anita Ritchie   Roosevelt/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Rachelle Roberts  Memorial/Food Service 

Began: 8/23/18   PE: 10/17/18 

 

Cedtrina Smith  Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Melissa Smith   PACE/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

Brenda Snider   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 



 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 

Daphne Waits   ECS/Data and Assessment Specialist 

Began: 8/28/18   PE: 10/22/18 

 

Lakesha Washington  North Side/Food Service 

Began: 4/30/18   PE:  9/11/18 

 

Kristin Whitaker  Osolo/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/22/18   PE: 10/16/18 

 

Felicia Williams  Daly/Paraprofessional 

Began: 8/20/18   PE: 10/14/18 

 

Lisa Willis   Osolo/Food Service 

Began: 8/16/18   PE: 10/10/18 

 

e. Unpaid Leave Request  – We recommend an unpaid leave of the following employee: 

 

Jalethia Black   Osolo/Food Service 

Begin: 10/22/18   End: 12/7/18 

 

f. Revision – We recommend the  withdrawal of the recommendation to hire reported on the October 

9, 2018, Board Report for the following employee: 

 

Sheila Elswick   Central/Food Service 

Began: 8/13/18   PE: 10/7/18 

 

 

 


	Agenda
	Gift Acceptance - Roosevelt
	Minutes - Regular Meeting October 9 2018
	Balance Sheet - September
	Resolution for Appropriations and Tax Rates
	Resolution to Adopt Bus Replacement
	Resolution to Adopt CPF 2019
	Tax Neutrality Resolution 2019
	Budget Reduction Resolution
	EMHS Choir Extra Curricular Request
	West Side Band and Orchestra Extra Curricular Request
	Fundraiser Requests
	September Insurance Report
	Board Policy 5830
	Board Policy 5460
	Administrative Regulation JC
	Board Policy 3422.08S
	Board Policy 3422.15S
	Grant Applications
	EEF - 2018-2019 Winter EC Grant Summary
	Conference Leave Request - Perkins
	Conference Leave Request
	Personnel Report

